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DEIN, U.S.M.J. 

I.   INTRODUCTION 

Plaintiffs Richard aŶd TeƌƌǇ “ŵith ;͞the “ŵiths͟Ϳ aƌe residents of Massachusetts and 

haǀe ďƌought this aĐtioŶ agaiŶst PlaŶtatioŶ Boat Maƌt aŶd MaƌiŶa, IŶĐ. ;͞PlaŶtatioŶ͟Ϳ.1 This 

action arises out of the sale of a recreational motorboat ;the ͞ǀessel͟Ϳ by Plantation to the 

Smiths. The Smiths allege that due to the ǀessel͛s faultǇ ǁiƌiŶg, the vessel caught fire at a dock 

in Massachusetts. The fire destroyed the vessel and a second boat tied to the same dock, and 

also caused severe damage to the dock itself. By their Second Amended Complaint ;͞“AC͟Ϳ the 

Smiths have asserted claims against the defendant for breach of contract (Count I), breach of 

                                                      
1 The plaintiffs also named as defendants MCBC Hydra Boats, LLC and Hydrasports Custom Boats, LLC. 

However, those defendants were dismissed without prejudice by stipulation pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 

41(a)(1)(A)(ii) on October 19, 2016 and March 6, 2017 respectively. 
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express warranties (Count II), breach of implied warranties (Count III), negligence (Count IV), 

breach of workmanlike performance (Count V), and violation of the Magnuson-Moss Warranty 

Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 2301, et seq. (Count VI) (Docket No. 44 at Ex. 6).2 

This ŵatteƌ is ďefoƌe the Đouƌt oŶ ͞DefeŶdaŶt, PlaŶtatioŶ Boat Maƌt aŶd MaƌiŶa IŶĐ.͛s 

MotioŶ to Disŵiss foƌ LaĐk of PeƌsoŶal JuƌisdiĐtioŶ͟ ;DoĐket No. ϰϬͿ. By its motion, Plantation 

contends that all of the “ŵiths͛ Đlaiŵs must be dismissed pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(2) 

because Plantation laĐks suffiĐieŶt ĐoŶtaĐts ǁith MassaĐhusetts to suppoƌt this Đouƌt͛s eǆeƌĐise 

of personal jurisdiction over it. As described below, this court finds that Plantation is subject to 

this Đouƌt͛s jurisdiction. Accordingly, and for all the reasons detailed herein, this court 

ƌeĐoŵŵeŶds to the DistƌiĐt Judge to ǁhoŵ this Đase is assigŶed that PlaŶtatioŶ͛s ŵotioŶ to 

dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction be DENIED. 

II.   STATEMENT OF FACTS 

Standard of Review of Record 

͞OŶ a ŵotion to dismiss for want of personal jurisdiction, the plaintiff ultimately bears 

the burden of persuading the couƌt that juƌisdiĐtioŶ eǆists.͟ Astro-Med, Inc. v. Nihon Kohden 

Am., Inc., 591 F.3d 1, 8 (1st Cir. 2009), and cases cited. ͞WheŶ a distƌiĐt Đourt rules on a motion 

to dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction without holding an evidentiary hearing, as in this 

Đase, the ͚pƌiŵa faĐie͛ staŶdaƌd goǀeƌŶs its deteƌŵiŶatioŶ.͟ United States v. Swiss Am. Bank, 

                                                      
2 The parties agreed at the hearing before this court on April 4, 2017 that the operative complaint is the 

Second AŵeŶded CoŵplaiŶt, attaĐhed as Eǆhiďit ϲ to PlaiŶtiff͛s ͞OppositioŶ to PlaŶtatioŶ Boat Maƌt aŶd 
MaƌiŶa, IŶĐ.͛s MotioŶ to Disŵiss aŶd Cƌoss MotioŶ to AŵeŶd the CoŵplaiŶt͟ ;Docket No. 44). As such, 

this court applies the paƌties͛ arguments related to personal jurisdiction to the Second Amended 

Complaint.  
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Ltd., 274 F.3d 610, 618 (1st Cir. 2001). Under this standard, plaiŶtiffs ŵust ͞deŵoŶstƌate the 

eǆisteŶĐe of eǀeƌǇ faĐt ƌeƋuiƌed to satisfǇ ďoth the foƌuŵ͛s loŶg-arm statute and the Due 

Process Clause of the CoŶstitutioŶ.͟ Id. (quotations and citation omitted).  Thus, to meet their 

burden in this case, plaiŶtiffs ŵust ͞pƌoffeƌ eǀideŶĐe ǁhiĐh, takeŶ at faĐe ǀalue, suffiĐes to 

show all facts essential to peƌsoŶal juƌisdiĐtioŶ.͟ Baskin-Robbins Franchising LLC v. Alpenrose 

Dairy, Inc., 825 F.3d 28, 34 (1st Cir. 2016). The Đouƌt ǁill ͞take the faĐts fƌoŵ the pleadings and 

whatever supplemental filings (such as affidavits) are contained in the record, giving credence 

to the plaiŶtiff͛s ǀeƌsioŶ of geŶuiŶelǇ ĐoŶtested faĐts.͟ Id. It ǁill ͞theŶ add to the ŵiǆ faĐts put 

forward by the defendants, to the extent that they are uŶĐoŶtƌadiĐted.͟ N. Laminate Sales, Inc. 

v. Davis, 403 F.3d 14, 24 (1st Cir. 2005) (quoting Daynard v. Ness, Motley, Loadholt, Richardson 

& Poole, P.A., 290 F.3d 42, 51 (1st Cir. 2002)) (additional quotations and citation omitted).

 Applying this standard to the instant case, the relevant facts are as follows.3 

The Parties 

The plaintiffs, Richard and Terry Smith, are a married couple who reside in Falmouth, 

Massachusetts. (SAC ¶ 1). The Smiths are friends with Kris Bohnenberger ;͞BohŶeŶďeƌgeƌ͟Ϳ, a 

resident of Mashpee, Massachusetts. (Bohnenberger Aff. ¶¶ 8, 19).4 Plantation Boat Mart & 

                                                      
3 The facts are derived from the following materials: (1) the SAC; (2) the affidavit of Elias de la Torre III 

;͞de la Toƌƌe Aff.͟Ϳ, ǁhiĐh is attaĐhed as Exhibit 1 to PlaŶtatioŶ͛s Motion to Dismiss (Docket No. 40); (3) 

the Supplemental Affidavit of Elias de la Torre III ;͞de la Toƌƌe “uppl. Aff.͟Ϳ ;DoĐket No. ϱϮͿ; (4) the 

affidaǀit of ‘iĐhaƌd “ŵith ;͞“ŵith Aff.͟) (Docket No. 44 Ex. 4); (4) the affidavit of Kris Bohnenberger 

;͞BohŶeŶďeƌgeƌ Aff.͟Ϳ and the exhibit attached thereto (Bohnenberger Aff. Ex. A) (Docket No. 44 Ex. 3); 

and other attachments to Plaintiffs͛ Opposition (Pl. Opp. Ex. __) (Docket No. 44). 

4 Kris Bohnenberger is a plaintiff in a related action against Plantation. See Kris J. Bohnenberger v. Geico 

Marine Ins. Co., f/k/a Seaworthy Ins. Co. as subrogee of Andrew Klane v. Plantation Boat Mart and 

Marina Inc., C.A. No. 16-11368-LTS. 
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Marina, Inc., a boat dealership, is a Florida corporation with a principal place of business in 

Tavernier, Florida. (de la Torre Aff. ¶¶ 6, 8). There is no dispute that Plantation is not registered 

to do business in Massachusetts (Id. ¶ 11); has no registered agent for services of process in 

Massachusetts (Id. ¶ 13); maintains no office or bank account in Massachusetts (Id. ¶¶ 10, 22); 

has never had a mailing address or telephone listing in Massachusetts (Id. ¶ 16); does not own 

or lease, have interest in or use or possess any real or personal property in Massachusetts (Id. ¶ 

17); has conducted no corporate meetings in Massachusetts (Id. ¶ 15); and has had no officer 

or director who was a resident of Massachusetts while holding that position. (Id. ¶ 14).  

Contract Negotiations 

 In February 2013, Bohnenberger attended the Miami Boat Show. (Bohnenberger Aff. 

¶ 3). There he spoke with and provided his email address to an individual who identified 

himself as the President of Hydrasports Custom Boats, LLC. (Id. ¶ 4). On March 9, 2013, 

Bohnenberger received an email at home in Massachusetts from a Plantation salesperson 

named Scott Warnike ;͞WaƌŶike͟Ϳ. (Id. ¶ 8). Warnike wrote that he had heard from the 

President of Hydrasports that BohŶeŶďeƌgeƌ ͞ha[d] soŵe iŶteƌest iŶ the Neǁ ϯϰϬϬ CC [ďoat].͟ 

(Id. ¶ 9Ϳ. WaƌŶike͛s eŵail ǁas the first communication between Plantation and Bohnenberger. 

(Id. ¶ 8). Over the course of March and April 2013, Warnike and Bohnenberger negotiated the 

terms of an agreement for the sale of a 2013 Hydrasports 3400 cc ďoat ;͞the ǀessel͟Ϳ by email 

and phone. (Id. ¶ 10; Bohnenberger Aff. Ex. A). At least 14 emails were exchanged and one 

phone call was made. (Id. Ex. A). During the negotiations, Warnike offered to have Plantation fly 

BohŶeŶďeƌgeƌ to Floƌida to ͞sea tƌial͟ the vessel. (Bohnenberger Aff. ¶ 11). Warnike agreed to 

take BohŶeŶďeƌgeƌ͛s ĐuƌƌeŶt ďoat as a ͞tƌade iŶ͟ to offset the pƌiĐe of the vessel (Id. ¶ 12) and 
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offeƌed to aƌƌaŶge foƌ the tƌaŶspoƌt of BohŶeŶďeƌgeƌ͛s tƌade-in boat from Massachusetts to 

Florida, and the transport of the vessel from Florida to Massachusetts. (Id. ¶¶ 13-14). 

Bohnenberger and Warnike ultimately agreed that Bohnenberger would arrange for the 

transport of the boats and Plantation would reduce the purchase price accordingly. (Id. ¶ 14). 

Bohnenberger and Warnike also agreed that the vessel would be outfitted with a larger ͞live 

well͟ and an autopilot system. (Id. ¶ 23; Bohnenberger Aff. Ex. A). The installation of the larger 

live well required installation of either a larger or an additional seawater pump. (Bohnenberger 

Aff. ¶ 24).  

Bohnenberger paid a $25,000 deposit for the vessel, and Warnike referred Bohnen-

berger to a finance company in order to obtain financing for the rest of the purchase. (Id. 

¶¶ 15-16). When Bohnenberger was denied financing, Warnike suggested that Bohnenberger 

have a friend apply for the financing and purchase of the vessel. (Id. ¶ 18). Bohnenberger asked 

the Smiths to obtain financing for the vessel, and the Smiths ultimately agreed. (Smith Aff. ¶¶ 2, 

5). BohŶeŶďeƌgeƌ gaǀe WaƌŶike the “ŵiths͛ ĐoŶtaĐt iŶfoƌŵation. (Bohnenberger Aff. ¶ 20). At 

some point before the sale of the vessel, Warnike and Richard Smith spoke over the phone. 

(Smith Aff. ¶ 3). During this call, Warnike represented that the vessel ǁas ͞a ǀeƌǇ good ďoat͟ 

aŶd that ͞aŶǇ aŶd all ǁaƌƌaŶtǇ ǁoƌk ǁould take plaĐe iŶ MassaĐhusetts.͟ ;Id.). The Smiths͛ 

financing was approved (Id. ¶ 6). Warnike emailed Bohnenberger a sales contract to be 

executed by Richard Smith. (Bohnenberger Aff. ¶ 21). The plaintiffs have alleged that on April 

29, 2013, Richard Smith executed the ďuǇeƌ͛s agreement for the vessel at his home in 

Falmouth, Massachusetts ͞aŶd foƌǁaƌded it ďaĐk to Plantation.͟ (SAC ¶ 30). The vessel, 
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installed with the larger live well, was to be fully operational and ready for pick up in Florida on 

the agreed-upon date of May 15, 2013. (Bohnenberger Aff. ¶ 25).  

 When Bohnenberger and Richard Smith arrived at Plantation on or about 6:30 a.m. on 

May 15, 2013, the vessel was not ready for pick up. (Smith Aff. ¶ 8). The live well installation 

was not complete, the autopilot was not operational, and Plantation employees were working 

on the vessel. (Id. ¶¶ 8-9). While Bohnenberger and Richard Smith waited, Warnike told Richard 

Smith again that the vessel was ͞a great boat͟ aŶd that PlaŶtatioŶ ͞ǁas goiŶg to seƌǀiĐe the 

boat . . . iŶ MassaĐhusetts.͟ ;Id. ¶ 11). At 8:45 p.m., the vessel was ready to be transported back 

to Massachusetts, but the live well installation was still not complete and the autopilot system 

was not operational. (Id. ¶ 13). Warnike promised to send a Plantation technician to 

Massachusetts to complete the work. (Id. ¶14).  

Repairs to the Vessel 

 Three days later, a Plantation employee named Kyle Rosenblatt ;͞‘oseŶďlatt͟Ϳ arrived in 

Mashpee, Massachusetts to make repairs to the boat. (Bohnenberger Aff. ¶ 31). Rosenblatt told 

BohŶeŶďeƌgeƌ that he ǁas the PlaŶtatioŶ teĐhŶiĐiaŶ ǁho ǁould ͞flǇ aƌouŶd the ĐouŶtƌǇ ŵakiŶg 

ƌepaiƌs to HǇdƌaspoƌt ďoats sold ďǇ PlaŶtatioŶ͟ aŶd that ͞ǁhile he ǁas iŶ MassaĐhusetts͟ he 

had ͞stopped at aŶotheƌ haƌďoƌ͟ to ŵake ƌepaiƌs to aŶotheƌ HǇdƌasport. (Bohnenberger Aff. ¶ 

37). Rosenblatt worked on the vessel for two days (Id. ¶ ϯϮͿ duƌiŶg ǁhiĐh tiŵe he ǁoƌked ͞with 

ǁiƌiŶg ĐoŵpoŶeŶts͟ aŶd had ͞eǀeƌǇ paŶel opeŶ, iŶside aŶd outside of the center console [of 

the vessel], eǆposiŶg eleĐtƌiĐal ǁiƌiŶg.͟ ;Id. ¶ 33). When Rosenblatt could not make the 

autopilot functional, Plantation arranged for Marine EleĐtƌoŶiĐ IŶstalleƌs ;͞MEI͟Ϳ, a 
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subcontractor of Plantation5, to service the vessel in Mashpee, Massachusetts, in order to try to 

make the autopilot work properly. (Id. ¶¶ 38-40). When the representative from MEI was 

unable to fix the autopilot, Plantation arranged for BosuŶ͛s Marine, in Mashpee, 

Massachusetts, to fix the autopilot. (Id. ¶ 41-43Ϳ. BosuŶ͛s MaƌiŶe ǁas eǀeŶtuallǇ suĐĐessful iŶ 

making the autopilot functional. (Id. ¶ 44). 

 Later, Plantation continued to maintain contact with Bohnenberger and the vessel in 

Massachusetts. In March 2014, an issue arose with the ďoat͛s spƌeadeƌ lights, aŶd in response, 

Plantation shipped replacements to BohŶeŶďeƌgeƌ͛s Massachusetts home. (Id. ¶¶ 46-48). In 

April 2014, Bohnenberger informed Plantation about mold and/or discoloration on the vessel͛s 

seat cushions, and Plantation coordinated the replacement of the cushions by three local 

Massachusetts companies – BosuŶ͛s MaƌiŶe iŶ Mashpee, MassaĐhusetts; “haŵƌoĐk Boat Woƌks 

of Waquoit, Massachusetts; and Ocean Designs, Inc. of East Falmouth, Massachusetts. (Id. ¶¶ 

49-51).   

The Fire6 

On October 11, 2015, the vessel ǁas tied to BohŶeŶďeƌgeƌ͛s doĐk in Massachusetts and 

was connected to electrical shore power. (See SAC ¶¶ 65-66). At approximately 11:35 a.m., a 

wiring component on the vessel allegedly malfunctioned, causing an electrical short, which in 

turn ignited a fire. (Id. ¶¶ 67-68). The plaintiffs allege that the electrical short occurred between 

                                                      
5 See Deposition of Elias de la Torre III (Pl. Opp. Ex. 1 at 47).  

6 The cause of the fire is disputed and will be the subject of discovery.  It is undisputed, however, that 

the fiƌe oĐĐuƌƌed iŶ MassaĐhusetts.  Foƌ pƌeseŶt puƌposes, the Đouƌt giǀes ͞ĐƌedeŶĐe to the plaiŶtiff͛s 
ǀeƌsioŶ of geŶuiŶelǇ ĐoŶtested faĐts͟ aŶd aĐĐepts the allegations of the SAC relating to the cause of the 

fire.  Baskin-Robbins Franchising LLC, 825 F.3d at 34.   
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two wires that were not properly installed. (Id. ¶ 67). The fire destroyed the vessel and personal 

property on it, and spread to BohŶeŶďeƌgeƌ͛s doĐk aŶd a second boat tied to the dock. (Id. 

¶¶ 69-72). The dock and its electrical system sustained severe fire-related damage, and the 

second boat was destroyed. (Id. ¶¶ 73, 75).  Inspections after the fire revealed that the fire on 

the vessel started in the area of the battery switches located in the forward section of the 

center console of the vessel. (Id. ¶¶ 80-81).  

Additional facts will be provided below where appropriate. 

III.   ANALYSIS 

As described above, the Smiths have asserted claims against the defendant for breach of 

contract (Count I), breach of express warranties (Count II), breach of implied warranties (Count 

III), negligence (Count IV), breach of workmanlike performance (Count V), and violation of the 

Magnuson-Moss Warranty Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 2301, et seq. (Count VI). See SAC. For the reasons 

that follow below, this court finds that the Smiths have made a prima facie showing of personal 

jurisdiction over Plantation. Accordingly, this court recommends that the motion to dismiss be 

DENIED pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(2). 

A. Personal Jurisdiction – Generally 

In order to exercise personal jurisdiction over Plantation, the Đouƌt ŵust ͞fiŶd sufficient 

ĐoŶtaĐts ďetǁeeŶ the defeŶdaŶt aŶd the foƌuŵ to satisfǇ ďoth that state͛s loŶg-arm statute and 

the FouƌteeŶth AŵeŶdŵeŶt͛s Due PƌoĐess clause.͟  Sawtelle v. Farrell, 70 F.3d 1381, 1387 (1st 

Cir. 1995).  The First Circuit has tƌeated the ͞liŵits of MassaĐhusetts͛s loŶg-arm statute as 

ĐoeǆteŶsiǀe ǁith those of the Due PƌoĐess Clause.͟  Copia CoŵŵĐ͛Ŷs, LLC ǀ. AM‘esoƌts, L.P., 

ϴϭϮ F.ϯd ϭ, ϰ ;ϭst Ciƌ. ϮϬϭϲͿ.  IŶ suĐh Đases, the Đouƌt has ďeeŶ aďle to ͞sidestep the statutory 
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inquiry and proceed directly to the constitutional analysis[.]͟  Daynard, 290 F.3d at 52.7  Under 

the Due PƌoĐess Clause, a Đouƌt ŵaǇ eǆeƌĐise peƌsoŶal juƌisdiĐtioŶ ͞oǀeƌ aŶ out-of-state 

defeŶdaŶt oŶlǇ if that defeŶdaŶt has ͚ĐeƌtaiŶ ŵiŶiŵuŵ ĐoŶtaĐts ǁith [the forum state] such 

that the maintenance of the suit does not offend traditional notions of fair play and substantial 

justiĐe.͛͟  Copia CoŵŵĐ͛Ŷs, 812 F.3d at 4 (quoting IŶt͛l “hoe Co. ǀ. WashiŶgtoŶ, 326 U.S. 310, 

316, 66 S.Ct. 154, 158, 90 L.Ed. 95 (1945)) (alteration in original; additional quotations and 

ĐitatioŶ oŵittedͿ.  AĐĐoƌdiŶglǇ, ͞[t]he aĐĐepted ŵode of aŶalǇsis foƌ ƋuestioŶs iŶǀolǀiŶg 

peƌsoŶal juƌisdiĐtioŶ ĐoŶĐeŶtƌates oŶ the ƋualitǇ aŶd ƋuaŶtitǇ of the poteŶtial defeŶdaŶt͛s 

ĐoŶtaĐts ǁith the foƌuŵ.͟  Phillips Exeter Acad. v. Howard Phillips Fund, Inc., 196 F.3d 284, 288 

;ϭst Ciƌ. ϭϵϵϵͿ.  ͞JuƌisdiĐtioŶ is pƌopeƌ . . . ǁheƌe the ĐoŶtaĐts pƌoǆiŵatelǇ ƌesult fƌoŵ aĐtioŶs ďǇ 

the defendant himself that Đƌeate a suďstaŶtial ĐoŶŶeĐtioŶ ǁith the foƌuŵ “tate.͟  Asahi Metal 

Indus. Co., Ltd. v. Super. Ct. of Cal., Solano Cty., 480 U.S. 102, 109, 107 S.Ct. 1026, 1030, 94 L.Ed. 

2d 92 (1987) (punctuation and emphasis in original; internal quotation marks and citations 

omitted).   

                                                      
7 The Đouƌt Ŷotes that ƌeĐeŶtlǇ, the Fiƌst CiƌĐuit has ͞suggested that MassaĐhusetts͛s loŶg-arm statute 

might impose more restrictive limits oŶ the eǆeƌĐise of peƌsoŶal juƌisdiĐtioŶ thaŶ does the CoŶstitutioŶ.͟  
Copia CoŵŵĐ͛Ŷs, 812 F.3d at 4 (decided Jan. 13, 2016).  More recently, however, the Massachusetts 

Appeals Court continued to follow Supreme Judicial Court precedent holding that the Massachusetts 

long-aƌŵ statute alloǁs foƌ ͞an assertion of jurisdiction over the person to the limits allowed by the 

Constitution of the United States,͟ and thus analyzed only the constitutional limits of personal jurisdic-

tion.  OpenRisk, LLC v. Roston, 90 Mass. App. Ct. 1107, 59 N.E.3d 456 (Table), No. 15-P-1282, 2016 WL 

5596005, at *4 (Sept. 29, 2016) (citing ͞Automatic͟ Sprinkler Corp. of Am. v. Seneca Foods Corp., 361 

Mass. 441, 443 (1972)).  In light of the Massachusetts precedent on this issue, this court ͞sidestep[s] the 

statutory inquiry and proceed[s] directly to the constitutional analysis[.]͟  Daynard, 290 F.3d at 52.  

Moreover, although most of the claims asserted are state-laǁ Đlaiŵs ďƌought uŶdeƌ the Đouƌt͛s diǀeƌsitǇ 
jurisdiction, the plaintiffs have also raised federal claims, including a claim under the Magnuson-Moss 

Warranty Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 2301 et seq.  Wheƌe the Đouƌt͛s suďjeĐt ŵatteƌ juƌisdiĐtioŶ is ďased oŶ a 
federal question, federal due process standards apply. Pike v. Clinton Fishpacking, Inc., 143 F. Supp. 2d 

162, 166 (D. Mass. 2001), and cases cited.   
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 ͞PeƌsoŶal juƌisdiĐtioŶ ŵaǇ ďe eitheƌ geŶeƌal oƌ speĐifiĐ.͟  Cossaboon v. Maine Med. Ctr., 

ϲϬϬ F.ϯd Ϯϱ, ϯϭ ;ϭst Ciƌ. ϮϬϭϬͿ.  ͞GeŶeƌal juƌisdiĐtioŶ ďƌoadlǇ suďjeĐts the defeŶdaŶt to suit iŶ 

the foƌuŵ state͛s Đouƌts ͚iŶ ƌespeĐt to all ŵatteƌs, eǀeŶ those that are unrelated to the 

defeŶdaŶt͛s ĐoŶtaĐts ǁith the foƌuŵ.͛͟  Id. (quoting Phillips Exeter Acad., 196 F.3d at 288). 

“peĐifiĐ juƌisdiĐtioŶ eǆists ͞ǁheƌe the Đause of aĐtioŶ aƌises diƌeĐtlǇ out of, oƌ ƌelates to, the 

defeŶdaŶt͛s foƌuŵ-ďased ĐoŶtaĐts.͟  Id. (quoting Pritzker v. Yari, 42 F.3d 53, 60 (1st Cir. 1994), 

cert. denied, 514 U.S. 1108, 115 S.Ct. 1959, 131 L.Ed. 2d 851 (1995).   

In the instant case, plaintiffs assert that Plantation has minimum contacts with 

Massachusetts to satisfy the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment, without 

specifying whether they are claiming that specific or general jurisdiction exists.  However, since 

the plaiŶtiffs͛ disĐussioŶ foĐuses oŶ the jurisdictional prongs needed to demonstrate the 

existence of specific jurisdiction (Pl. Opp. at 11), this court will analyze the case accordingly.  

See Haƌloǁ ǀ. ChildƌeŶ͛s Hosp.  432 F.3d 50, 57 ;ϭst Ciƌ. ϮϬϬϱͿ ;͞The plaintiff need not prove the 

existence of both types of jurisdiction; either one, staŶdiŶg aloŶe, is suffiĐieŶt.͟).  

B. Specific Jurisdiction Analysis 

For purposes of the specific jurisdiction analysis, the Fiƌst CiƌĐuit has ͞ďƌokeŶ the 

minimum contacts analysis into three categories—relatedness, purposeful availment, and 

ƌeasoŶaďleŶess[.]͟ Adelson v. Hananel, 510 F.3d 43, 49 (1st Cir. 2007). Thus, as the Court has 

explained:  

First, the claim underlying the litigation must directly arise out of, or 

ƌelate to, the defeŶdaŶt͛s foƌuŵ-state activities.  Second, the 

defeŶdaŶt͛s iŶ-state contacts must represent a purposeful availment of 

the privilege of conducting activities in the forum state, thereby invoking 

the ďeŶefits aŶd pƌoteĐtioŶs of that state͛s laǁs aŶd ŵakiŶg the 
defeŶdaŶt͛s iŶǀoluŶtaƌǇ pƌeseŶĐe ďefoƌe the state͛s Đouƌts foƌeseeaďle.  
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Third, the exercise of jurisdiction must, in light of the Gestalt factors, be 

reasonable. 

 

Id. (quoting Daynard, 290 F.3d at 60) (additioŶal ĐitatioŶ oŵittedͿ.  ͞AŶ affiƌŵatiǀe fiŶdiŶg oŶ 

eaĐh of the thƌee eleŵeŶts of the test is ƌeƋuiƌed to suppoƌt a fiŶdiŶg of speĐifiĐ juƌisdiĐtioŶ.͟  

Phillips Exeter Acad., 196 F.3d at 288.  As detailed below, the plaintiffs have met their burden of 

establishing both relatedness and purposeful availment. Moreover, the application of the 

Gestalt faĐtoƌs to the faĐts of this Đase Đoŵpels the ĐoŶĐlusioŶ that this Đouƌt͛s asseƌtioŶ of 

personal jurisdiction over Plantation is reasonable. 

Relatedness 

The ƌelatedŶess iŶƋuiƌǇ ͞is to ďe ƌesolǀed uŶdeƌ ͚a fleǆiďle, ƌelaǆed staŶdaƌd.͛͟ Baskin-

Robbins Franchising LLC, 825 F.3d at 35 (quoting Pritzker v. Yari, 42 F.3d at 61). In evaluating 

ƌelatedŶess, the Đouƌt is ŵiŶdful that ͞[Ƌ]uestioŶs of speĐifiĐ juƌisdiĐtion are always tied to the 

paƌtiĐulaƌ Đlaiŵs asseƌted.͟ Phillips Exeter Acad., 196 F.3d at 289. In the instant case, plaintiffs 

have asserted claims in contract and tort. IŶ ĐoŶtƌaĐt Đases, the Đouƌt ŵust deteƌŵiŶe ͞ǁhetheƌ 

the defeŶdaŶt͛s ĐoŶtaĐts ǁith the foƌuŵ ǁeƌe iŶstƌuŵeŶtal eitheƌ iŶ the foƌŵatioŶ of the 

ĐoŶtƌaĐt oƌ iŶ its ďƌeaĐh.͟  Id.  It is appƌopƌiate to ͞paǇ paƌtiĐulaƌlǇ Đlose atteŶtioŶ to ͚the 

paƌties͛ pƌioƌ Ŷegotiations and contemplated future consequences, along with the terms of the 

ĐoŶtƌaĐt aŶd the paƌties͛ aĐtual Đouƌse of dealiŶg.͛͟ Cossart v. United Excel Corp., 804 F.3d 13, 

20 (1st Cir. 2015) (quoting C.W. Downer & Co. v. Bioriginal Food & Science Corp., 771 F.3d 59, 

66 (1st Cir. 2014)).  

With regard to the contract at issue in the instant case, the Smiths have established 

sufficient relatedness. Plantation͛s contacts with Massachusetts were instrumental in the 

formation of the contract at issue. The multi-week contract negotiations initiated by Plantation 
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involved numerous emails from Plantation to Bohnenberger in Massachusetts and at least two 

phone calls – one between Warnike and Bohnenberger and one between Warnike and Smith. 

These communications constitute contacts for purposes of the jurisdictional analysis.8  See 

Massachusetts Sch. of Law at Andover, Inc. v. Am. Baƌ Ass͛Ŷ, 142 F.3d 26, 36 (1st Cir. 1998) 

;͞The tƌaŶsŵissioŶ of faĐts oƌ iŶfoƌŵatioŶ iŶto MassaĐhusetts ǀia telephoŶe oƌ ŵail ǁould of 

course constitute evidence of a jurisdictional contact directed into the forum state . . . .͟Ϳ; 

Workgroup Tech. Corp. v. MGM Grand Hotel, LLC, 246 F. Supp. 2d 102, 113 (D. Mass. 2003) 

(four telephone calls, five emails, and three faxes into the forum state for the purpose of 

negotiating the terms of the contract were related contacts because they were instrumental in 

the formation of the contract in dispute in the litigation).  

Fuƌtheƌ, PlaŶtatioŶ͛s ĐoŶtaĐts ǁith MassaĐhusetts ǁeƌe ƌelated to the performance and 

alleged breach of the contract.  According to the plaintiffs, the contract required Plantation to 

perform any necessary warranty work on the vessel in Massachusetts, and Plantation – 

allegedly in the performance of its contractual duties – did perform repair work on the vessel in 

Massachusetts and did subcontract with other entities to do so over the course of two and a 

half years. These acts constitute contacts with Massachusetts for purposes of the jurisdictional 

analysis. See C.W. Downer & Co., 771 F.3d at 66 (holding that plaintiff satisfied relatedness 

ƌeƋuiƌeŵeŶt ǁheƌe eǀideŶĐe shoǁed that defeŶdaŶt had ͞aŶ oŶgoiŶg ĐoŶŶeĐtioŶ ǁith 

                                                      
8 Bohnenberger clearly attested that he received his first email communication from Plantation while he 

was at his home in Massachusetts.  (See Bohnenberger Aff. ¶ 8).  While he does not specifically identify 

his location when receiving the other emails and phone calls, given that the conversations were about 

his traveling from Massachusetts to Florida and the transport of his trade-in boat from Massachusetts to 

Florida, it is reasonable to infer that Bohnenberger was in Massachusetts for most, if not all, of these 

communications.   
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Massachusetts in the performance under the coŶtƌaĐt[,]͟ aŶd that plaiŶtiff͛s Đlaiŵs aƌose ͞fƌoŵ 

the alleged ďƌeaĐh of that ĐoŶtƌaĐt͟Ϳ. In sum, the facts alleged by the Smiths constitute enough 

eǀideŶĐe to satisfǇ the ͞fleǆiďle͟ aŶd ͞ƌelaǆed͟ ƌelatedŶess ƌeƋuiƌeŵeŶt for the contract claim. 

Pritzker, 42 F.3d at 61.  

When assessing personal jurisdiction in tort cases, the First Circuit has declined to 

require strict adherence to a proximate cause standard, iŶstead applǇiŶg a ͞sŵall oǀeƌlaǇ of 

͚ďut foƌ͛ oŶ ͚pƌoǆiŵate Đause͛͟ with the rationale that 

[w]hen a foreign corporation directly targets residents in an ongoing effort to 

further a business relationship, and achieves its purpose, it may not 

necessarily be unreasonable to subject that corporation to forum jurisdiction 

when the efforts lead to a tortious result. . . . If the resident is harmed while 

engaged in activities integral to the relationship the corporation sought to 

establish, we think the nexus between the contacts and the cause of action is 

sufficiently strong to survive the due process inquiry at least at the relatedness 

stage. 

 

Nowak v. Tak How Invs., Ltd., 94 F.3d 708, 715–16 (1st Cir. 1996).  Here, Plantation targeted a 

Massachusetts resident, the tortious conduct on the part of the defendant was integral to the 

targeted relationship and took place in Massachusetts, and the harm occurred in Massachu-

setts.  These facts aƌe suffiĐieŶt to ŵeet the Fiƌst CiƌĐuit͛s ŵodifiĐatioŶ of the pƌoǆiŵate Đause 

standard for relatedness set forth in Nowak.  See id. at 716 (Massachusetts could exercise 

peƌsoŶal juƌisdiĐtioŶ oǀeƌ foƌeigŶ hotel iŶ a ǁƌoŶgful death aĐtioŶ ǁheƌe hotel͛s soliĐitatioŶ of 

guest iŶ MassaĐhusetts ͞set iŶ ŵotioŶ a ĐhaiŶ of ƌeasoŶaďlǇ foƌeseeaďle eǀeŶts͟ that ƌesulted 

in guest͛s ǁife drowning in hotel swimming pool).  By reaching into Massachusetts to sell a 

vessel that would be docked in Massachusetts, by promising to do warranty work in 

Massachusetts, and by making repairs to that vessel in Massachusetts, Plantation ͞set iŶ 

motion a chain of reasoŶaďlǇ foƌeseeaďle eǀeŶts͟ leadiŶg to the fiƌe that consumed the vessel 
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and other property in Massachusetts. Id. See Edwards v. Radventures, Inc., 164 F. Supp. 2d 190, 

198 (D. Mass. 2001) (finding relatedness where defendant foreign corporation approached 

Massachusetts plaintiff for sale of an allegedly defective monoski in Colorado, sale was 

consummated when plaintiff faxed order form from Massachusetts to defendant in Oregon, 

and plaintiff sued defendant for personal injuries caused by defect in monoski); Pike v. Clinton 

Fishpacking, Inc., 143 F. Supp. 2d 162, 169 (D. Mass. 2001) (finding relatedness where 

defendant foreign corporation recruited plaintiff from Massachusetts to work on a fishing boat 

off the coast of Alaska and plaintiff sued defendant for personal injuries sustained while 

eŵploǇed oŶ defeŶdaŶt͛s ďoatͿ.  

FiŶallǇ, PlaŶtatioŶ aƌgues that the plaiŶtiffs ͞haǀe Ŷot alleged that PlaŶtatioŶ iŶ faĐt 

worked on the electrical components Đlaiŵed to ďe the Đause of the fiƌe.͟  ;Def.͛s ‘eplǇ Meŵ. 

(Docket No. 48) at 5).  However, in the SAC, plaintiffs have alleged that defendant͛s ƌepaiƌ ǁoƌk 

͞ƌesulted iŶ ŵaŶipulatioŶ aŶd/oƌ alteƌatioŶ of the ďoat͛s eleĐtƌiĐal ǁiƌiŶg within the center 

console, ǁhiĐh Đaused the ďoat to ĐatĐh fiƌe.͟ ;“AC ¶ 109). This factual allegation, while 

disputed, is sufficient to satisfy the relatedness prong of the jurisdictional analysis. 

Purposeful Availment 

 The eǀideŶĐe of PlaŶtatioŶ͛s ĐoŶtaĐts ǁith MassaĐhusetts also fulfills the puƌposeful 

availment prong of the jurisdictional inquiry. ͞The purposeful availment inquiry . . . focuses on 

the defeŶdaŶt͛s iŶteŶtioŶalitǇ. This pƌoŶg is oŶlǇ satisfied ǁheŶ the defeŶdaŶt puƌposefullǇ aŶd 

voluntarily directs his activities toward the forum so that he should expect, by virtue of the 

ďeŶefit he ƌeĐeiǀes, to ďe suďjeĐt to the Đouƌt͛s juƌisdiĐtioŶ ďased oŶ these ĐoŶtaĐts.͟ Swiss Am. 

Bank, Ltd., 274 F.3d at 623-24 (internal citation omitted). Accordingly, purposeful availment 
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oĐĐuƌs ͞ǁheŶ a defeŶdaŶt deliďeƌatelǇ taƌgets its ďehaǀioƌ toǁaƌd the soĐietǇ oƌ eĐoŶoŵǇ of a 

particular forum [such that] the forum should have the power to subject the defendant to 

judgŵeŶt ƌegaƌdiŶg that ďehaǀioƌ.͟ Carreras v. PMG Collins, LLC, 660 F.3d 549, 555 (1st. Cir. 

2011) (citing J. McIntyre Mach., Ltd. v. Nicastro, 564 U.S. 873, 881, 131 S.Ct. 2780, 2787-88, 180 

L. Ed. 2d 765 (2011)). ͞The eŶfoƌĐeŵeŶt of peƌsoŶal juƌisdiĐtioŶ oǀeƌ a ŶoŶ-resident defendant 

is foreseeable when that defendant has established a continuing obligation between itself and 

the foƌuŵ state.͟ Sawtelle, 70 F.3d at 1393. 

PlaŶtatioŶ͛s ĐoŶtacts with the forum state were both voluntary and foreseeable. 

Plantation purposefully reached out of Florida to solicit Bohnenberger in Massachusetts for the 

sale of the vessel, thereby satisfying the voluntariness requirement. See Nowak, 94 F.3d at 716-

17 (statiŶg ͞IŶ oƌdeƌ to ďe suďjeĐt to MassaĐhusetts͛ juƌisdiĐtioŶ, a defendant need only have 

one contact with the forum state, so long as that contact is meaningful͟ and finding foreign 

defendaŶt͛s uŶpƌoŵpted soliĐitatioŶ ǁhiĐh ǁas desigŶed to faĐilitate a business relationship 

with in-forum plaintiff to satisfy the voluntariness requirement of the purposeful availment 

test).   

According to the plaintiffs, Plantation promised, in consideration for the sale of the 

vessel, to service the vessel in the forum post-sale, creating a continuing relationship with the 

forum. Plantation, disputing that it promised to service the vessel in the forum, argues that its 

conduct is akin to having merely placed the vessel into the ͞stream of commerce.͟ (Plantation 

Reply Br. at 6-7) (citing J. McIntyre Mach., Ltd., 564 U.S. 873, 131 S.Ct. 2780)) (Docket No. 48).  

This court disagrees. This court must take the plaiŶtiffs͛ ǁell suppoƌted faĐts as tƌue — the fact 

that PlaŶtatioŶ does Ŷot agƌee ǁith the plaiŶtiffs͛ allegatioŶs does not defeat jurisdiction.  See 
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United Elec. Radio and Mach. Workers of Am. v. 163 Pleasant St. Corp., 987 F.2d 39, 44 (1st Cir. 

1993) (in assessing a prima facie ĐhalleŶge to peƌsoŶal juƌisdiĐtioŶ, ͞the distƌiĐt Đouƌt is Ŷot 

acting as a factfinder; rather, it accepts properly supported proffers of evidence by a plaintiff as 

tƌue aŶd ŵakes its ƌuliŶgs as a ŵatteƌ of laǁ͟). The record before this court is that Plantation 

solicited a Massachusetts resident for the purchase of the vessel that would be docked in 

Massachusetts, promised to perform all warranty work on the vessel in Massachusetts, 

performed repair work on the vessel in Massachusetts, and subcontracted and/or coordinated 

to have more repair work performed on the vessel in Massachusetts. Thus, Plantation 

established a continuing obligation between itself and the forum, making jurisdiction 

foreseeable. See Sawtelle, 70 F.3d at 1393; see also Wolverine Procter & Schwartz, Inc. v. 

Aeroglide Corp., 394 F. Supp. 2d 299, 310 (D. Mass. 2005) (finding foreseeability requirement of 

the purposeful availment test satisfied where foreign defendant established a continuing 

obligation between itself and a Massachusetts-based company when it entered into a three-

year obligation Ŷot to ŵisuse plaiŶtiff͛s Đonfidential information or solicit its employees). These 

allegations are sufficient to support the conclusion that Plantation purposefully and voluntarily 

diƌeĐted its aĐtiǀities toǁaƌds the foƌuŵ aŶd ͞should ƌeasoŶaďlǇ aŶtiĐipate ďeiŶg haled iŶto 

court theƌe.͟ Burger King Corp. v. Rudzewicz, 471 U.S. 462, 474, 105 S.Ct. 2174, 2183, 85 L. Ed. 

2d 528 (1985) (quotation and citation omitted). Accordingly, the plaintiffs have made the 

showing necessary to satisfy the purposeful availment requirement of the jurisdictional test. 

Gestalt Factors 

If the first two parts of the test for specific jurisdiction are fulfilled, the court must 

determine whether the exercise of personal jurisdiction is reasonable in light of the so-called 
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͞Gestalt faĐtoƌs.͟  Sawtelle, ϳϬ F.ϯd at ϭϯϵϰ.  This ƌeƋuiƌes the Đouƌt to ĐoŶsideƌ ͞;ϭͿ the defeŶ-

daŶt͛s ďuƌdeŶ of appeaƌiŶg; ;ϮͿ the foƌuŵ state͛s iŶteƌest iŶ adjudiĐatiŶg the dispute; ;ϯͿ the 

plaiŶtiff͛s iŶteƌest iŶ oďtaiŶiŶg ĐoŶǀeŶieŶt aŶd effeĐtiǀe ƌelief; ;ϰͿ the judiĐial sǇsteŵ͛s iŶteƌest 

in obtaining the most effective resolution of the controversy; and (5) the common interests of 

all soǀeƌeigŶs iŶ pƌoŵotiŶg suďstaŶtiǀe soĐial poliĐies.͟  Id.     

The application of the Gestalt factors to the facts of this case further weighs in favor of 

exercising personal jurisdiction over Plantation. With respect to the first factor – the 

defeŶdaŶt͛s ďuƌdeŶ of appeaƌiŶg – this court finds that the burden on Plantation would not be 

significant. Although the need to defend an aĐtioŶ iŶ a foƌeigŶ juƌisdiĐtioŶ ͞is alŵost alǁaǇs 

inconvenient and/or costly . . . this factor is only meaningful where a party can demonstrate 

soŵe kiŶd of speĐial oƌ uŶusual ďuƌdeŶ.͟ Pritzker, 42 F.3d at 64. Here, Plantation asserts no 

special burden it would encounter in litigation out of state, nor does the record reveal a greater 

burden on Plantation appearing in Massachusetts than the Smiths would suffer appearing in 

Florida.  Plantation does suggest that it would be burdensome for Plantation personnel to 

appear and attend proceedings in Massachusetts.  However, this case does not involve a signi-

ficant number of out-of-state witnesses.  Moreover, it may be possible for some witnesses to 

appear by deposition if necessary. As Plantation ͞does Ŷot allege aŶǇthiŶg ͚speĐial oƌ uŶusual͛ 

about its situation other than the ordinary inconvenience of litigating an action in another 

state͟ this factor does little to undermine the reasonableness of exercising personal jurisdiction 

over Plantation in this case. Hasbro, Inc. v. Clue Computing, Inc., 994 F. Supp. 34, 45 (D. Mass. 

1997). 
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The seĐoŶd Gestalt faĐtoƌ, ĐoŶĐeƌŶiŶg the foƌuŵ state͛s iŶteƌest iŶ adjudiĐatiŶg the 

dispute, weighs heavily in favor of keeping the lawsuit in Massachusetts. It is clear that 

Massachusetts ͞has a strong interest in protecting its citizens from out-of-state solicitations for 

goods or seƌǀiĐes that pƌoǀe to ďe uŶsafe.͟ Nowak, 94 F.3d at 718. It also ͞has a sigŶifiĐaŶt 

interest in obtaining jurisdiction over a defendant who causes tortious injury within its 

ďoƌdeƌs.͟ Id. (citing Ticketmaster-New York, Inc. v. Alioto, 26 F.3d 201, 211 (1st Cir. 1994). See 

also Pike, 143 F. Supp. 2d at 170 ;͞MassaĐhusetts has a significant interest in ensuring its 

residents aƌe Ŷot iŶjuƌed ďǇ ŶegligeŶĐe͟Ϳ. Massachusetts has a strong interest in obtaining 

jurisdiction over Plantation as plaiŶtiffs allege that PlaŶtatioŶ͛s ŶegligeŶt ƌepaiƌ ǁoƌk iŶ 

Massachusetts caused a fire that destroyed property in Massachusetts.  

 The third Gestalt factor is the plaiŶtiff͛s iŶteƌest iŶ oďtaiŶiŶg ĐoŶǀeŶieŶt aŶd effeĐtiǀe 

relief. The First Circuit has ƌepeatedlǇ oďseƌǀed that ͞a plaiŶtiff͛s ĐhoiĐe of foƌuŵ ŵust ďe 

aĐĐoƌded a degƌee of defeƌeŶĐe ǁith ƌespeĐt to the issue of its oǁŶ ĐoŶǀeŶieŶĐe.͟ Sawtelle, 70 

F.3d at 1395. Thus, this factor weighs in favor of maintaining the litigation in Massachusetts, 

where plaiŶtiffs͛ ǁitŶesses aŶd otheƌ ƌeleǀaŶt eǀideŶĐe aƌe loĐated.  

The fouƌth Gestalt faĐtoƌ, ĐoŶĐeƌŶiŶg the judiĐial sǇsteŵ͛s iŶteƌest iŶ oďtaiŶiŶg the ŵost 

effeĐtiǀe ƌesolutioŶ of the Đase, is geŶeƌallǇ ĐoŶsideƌed ͞a ǁash.͟ Baskin-Robbins, 825 F.3d at 

41 (citing Sawtelle, 70 F.3d at 1395). ͞EǀeŶ though MassaĐhusetts Đouƌts ĐaŶ effeĐtiǀelǇ 

adŵiŶisteƌ justiĐe iŶ this dispute, theǇ haǀe Ŷo ĐoƌŶeƌ oŶ the ŵaƌket.͟ Id.  

The final factor concerns the interests of affected states in promoting substantive social 

policies. As noted earlier, Massachusetts has a clear interest in protecting its citizens from 

foreign providers of goods and services and in affording those citizens a convenient forum in 
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which to bring their claims. On the other hand, Florida has an interest in adjudicating claims 

relating to businesses based within its borders. Therefore, this factor does not weigh in favor of 

one forum over another.  

In sum, although it may be somewhat inconvenient for Plantation to defend this case in 

Massachusetts, the inconvenience is not significant. Moreover, where the remaining Gestalt 

factors relevant to this case weigh in favor of jurisdiction or are neutral, the maintenance of the 

lawsuit agaiŶst PlaŶtatioŶ iŶ MassaĐhusetts ͞ǁould Đoŵpoƌt ǁith ͚faiƌ plaǇ aŶd suďstaŶtial 

justiĐe.͛͟ Burger King, 471 U.S. at 476, 105 S.Ct. 2184 (quoting IŶt͛l “hoe Co., 326 U.S. at 320, 66 

S.Ct. at 160).  

As detailed above, the record shows that Plantation purposefully established minimum 

contaĐts iŶ MassaĐhusetts suĐh that this Đouƌt͛s eǆeƌtioŶ of speĐifiĐ peƌsoŶal juƌisdiĐtioŶ oǀeƌ 

the defendant would not offend due process. Therefore, this court recommends that this 

ŵatteƌ ƌeŵaiŶ iŶ MassaĐhusetts aŶd that PlaŶtatioŶ͛s ŵotioŶ to disŵiss foƌ laĐk of peƌsoŶal 

jurisdiction be denied.  

IV.   CONCLUSION 

For all the reasons set forth herein, this court recommends to the District Judge to 

whom this case is assigŶed that ͞DefeŶdaŶt, PlantatioŶ Boat Maƌt aŶd MaƌiŶa IŶĐ.͛s MotioŶ to 

Disŵiss foƌ LaĐk of PeƌsoŶal JuƌisdiĐtioŶ͟ ;DoĐket No. ϰϬͿ ďe DENIED.9 

                                                      
9 The parties are hereby advised that under the provisions of Fed. R. Civ. P. 72 any party who objects to 

these proposed findings and recommendations must file a written objection thereto with the Clerk of 

this Couƌt ǁithiŶ ϭϰ daǇs of the paƌtǇ͛s ƌeĐeipt of this ‘epoƌt aŶd ‘eĐoŵŵeŶdatioŶ. The ǁƌitteŶ 
objections must specifically identify the portion of the proposed findings, recommendations, or report 

to which objection is made and the basis for such objections. The parties are further advised that the 

United States Court of Appeals for this Circuit has repeatedly indicated that failure to comply with this 

Rule shall preclude further appellate review. See KeatiŶg ǀ. “eĐ͛Ǉ of Health & HuŵaŶ “eƌǀs., 848 F.2d 
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       / s / Judith Gail Dein            

       Judith Gail Dein 

       United States Magistrate Judge  

                                                      
271, 275 (1st Cir. 1988); United States v. Valencia-Copete, 792 F.2d 4, 6 (1st Cir. 1986); Park Motor Mart, 

Inc. v. Ford Motor Co., 616 F.2d 603, 604-05 (1st Cir. 1980); United States v. Vega, 678 F.2d 376, 378-79 

(1st Cir. 1982); Scott v. Schweiker, 702 F.2d 13, 14 (1st Cir. 1983); see also Thomas v. Arn, 474 U.S. 140, 

153-54, 106 S. Ct. 466, 474, 88 L. Ed. 2d 435 (1985).  Accord Phinney v. Wentworth Douglas Hosp., 199 

F.3d 1, 3-4 (1st Cir. 1999); Henley Drilling Co. v. McGee, 36 F.3d 143, 150-51 (1st Cir. 1994); Santiago v. 

Canon U.S.A., Inc., 138 F.3d 1, 4 (1st Cir. 1998). 
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